
AO 442 (Rev. 11/11) Arrest Warrant

United States District Court

for the

District of Columbia

United States of America

V.

Joshua Parmenter

Defendant

Case: 1:23-mj-00308
Assigned to: Judge Meriweather, Robin M.
Assign Dale: 11/13/2023
Description: COMPLAINT W/ARREST WARRANT

ARREST WARRANT

To: Any authorized law enforcement ofliccr

YOU ARE COMMANDED to arrest and bring before a United States magistrate judge without unnecessary delay

(name of person to be arrested) Joshua Parmenter <

who Is accused of an offense or violation based on the following document filed with the court:

□ Indictment □ Superseding Indictment □ information □ Superseding information jS Complaint
□ Probation Violation Petition □ Supervised Release Violation Petition □ Violation Notice □ Order of the Court

This offense Is briefly described as follows:

18 U.S.C. § 1752(a)(1) - Knowingly Entering or Remaining in any Restricted Building or Grounds Without
Lawful Authority
18 U.S.C. § I 752(a)(2) - Disorderly and Disruptive Conduct in a Restricted Building or Grounds
40 U.S.C. § 5104(e)(2)(D) - Disorderly Conduct in a Capitol Building or Grounds

40 U.S.C. § 5104(e)(2)(G) - Parading, Demonstrating, or Picketing^in a Capitol Building
2023

Date 11/13/2023

.11.13 11:06:05
OS'OO'

Issuing officer's signature

CItv and state: Washlncton. D.C. Robin M. Meriweather. U.S. Magistrate Judge
Printed name and title

Return

This warrant was received on (date)
at (citv and state)

. and the person was arrested on (date)

Date:
Arresting officer's signature

Printed name and title
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AO 91 (Rev. I I/I I) Criiniiml Conipkiinl

United States District Court
for the

District ofColumbia

United States of America

V.

Joshua Parmcnter

DOB: XXXXXX

IX-fendaiil(s)

Case: 1:23-mj-00308
Assigned to: Judge Merlweather, Robin M.
Assign Date: 11/13/2023
Description: COMPLAINT W/ ARREST WARRANT

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

i, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.

On or about the datc(s) of January 6. 2021 in the county of

in the District of Columbia , the defcndant(s) violated:

Code Section Offense Description

18 U.S.C. § 1752(a)(1) - Knowingly Entering or Remaining in any Restricted Building or Grounds

Without Lawful Authority

18 U.S.C. § 1 752(a)(2) - Disorderly and Disruptive Conduct in a Restricted Building or Grounds
40 U.S.C. § 5104(c)(2)(D) - Disorderly Conduct in a Capitol Building or Grounds

40 U.S.C. § 5104(c)(2)(G) - Parading. Demonstrating, or Picketing in a Capitol Building

This criminal complaint is based on these facts:

See attached statement of facts.

S Continued on the attached sheet.

Coiiiplaimiiii's .ligiialuri:

Andrew C. Cramlct. Special Agent
Printed name and title

Attested to by the applicant in accordance with the requirements of fed. R. Crim. P. 4.1

.  2023.11.13

Da.e: ^ ^V-07:06-05W
Judge's signature

City and state: Washington. D.C. Robin M. Meriwcathcr. U.S. Magistrate Judge
Printed name and title
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

V.

JOSHUA PARMENTER

Defendant.

Case; 1:23HnH)0308
Assigned to: Judge Meriweather, Robin M.
Assign Date: 11/13/2023
Oesciiption: COMPLAINT W/ARREST WARRANT

VIOLATIONS:

18 U.S.C. § 1752(a)(1) - Entering and
Remaining in a Restricted Building or
Grounds

18 U.S.C. § 1752(a)(2) - Disorderly and
Disruptive Conduct in a Restricted
Building or Grounds
40 U.S.C. § 5104(e)(2)(D) - Disorderly
Conduct in a Capitol Building or Grounds
and

40 U.S.C. § 5104(e)(2)(G) - Parading,
Demonstrating, or Picketing in a Capitol
Building

ORDER

This matter having come before the Court pursuant to the application of the United States to seal

criminal complaint, the Court finds that, because of such reasonable grounds to believe the disclosure will

result in flight from prosecution, destruction of or tampering with evidence, intimidation of potential

witnesses, and serious jeopardy to the investigation, the United States has established that a compelling

governmental interest exists to Justify the requested sealing.

1. IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the application is hereby GRANTED, and that the

affidavit in support of criminal complaint and other related materials, the instant application to seal, and

this Order are sealed until the arrest warrant is executed.

2. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Clerk's office shall delay any entry on the public

docket of the arrest warrant until it is executed.
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2023.11.13

Date: November 13,2023 ^ ^ ̂  -OS'OC

ROBIN M. MERIWEATHER

UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
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Case; 1:23-mj-00306
Assigned to; Judge Meriweather, Robin M.
Assign Date: 11/13/2023
Description; COMPLAiNT W/ARREST WARRANT

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Your affiant, Andrew C. Cramlet, is a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of
Investigation (FBI) and is presently assigned to the Cincinnati Division, Columbus Resident
Agency. Among my duties as a Special Agent, 1 conduct investigations of criminal activity that
uses force or threat of violence in furtherance of a social/political agenda. Currently, 1 am tasked
with investigating criminal activity in and around the Capitol grounds on January 6, 2021. As a
Special Agent, 1 am authorized by law or by a Government agency to engage in or supervise the
prevention, detection, investigation, or prosecution of a violation of Federal criminal laws.

The facts in this Affidavit come from my personal observations, my training and
experience, and information obtained from other agents, witnesses, and agencies or is based on a
review of various documents, records, and reports. Because this Affidavit is submitted for the
limited purpose of establishing probable cause, it does not contain every fact known by me or the
FBI. The dates and times listed in this Affidavit should be read as "on or about".

Background: Events at the U.S. Capitol on January 6,2021

The U.S. Capitol is secured 24 hours a day by U.S. Capitol Police. Restrictions around the
U.S. Capitol include permanent and temporary security barriers and posts manned by U.S. Capitol
Police. Only authorized people with appropriate identification were allowed access inside the U.S.
Capitol. On January 6, 2021, the exterior plaza of the U.S. Capitol was also closed to members of
the public.

On January 6, 2021, a joint session of the United States Congress convened at the United
States Capitol, which is located at First Street, SE, in Washington, D.C. During the joint session,
elected members of the United States House of Representatives and the United States Senate were
meeting in separate chambers of the United States Capitol to certify the vote count of the Electoral
College of the 2020 Presidential Election, which had taken place on November 3, 2020. The joint
session began at approximately 1;00 p.m. Shortly thereafter, by approximately 1;30 p.m., the
House and Senate adjourned to separate chambers to resolve a particular objection. Vice President
Mike Pence was present and presiding, first in the joint session, and then in the Senate chamber.

As the proceedings continued in both the House and the Senate, and with Vice President
Mike Pence present and presiding over the Senate, a large crowd gathered outside the U.S. Capitol.
As noted above, temporary and permanent barricades were in place around the exterior of the U.S.
Capitol building, and U.S. Capitol Police were present and attempting to keep the crowd away
from the Capitol building and the proceedings underway inside.

At such time, the certification proceedings were still underway and the exterior doors and
windows of the U.S. Capitol were locked or otherwise secured. Members of the U.S. Capitol Police
attempted to maintain order and keep the crowd from entering the Capitol; however, around 2;00
p.m., individuals in the crowd forced entry into the U.S. Capitol, including by breaking windows
and by assaulting members of the U.S. Capitol Police, as others in the crowd encouraged and
assisted those acts.

Case: 2:23-mj-00641-EPD Doc #: 1 Filed: 11/15/23 Page: 5 of 11  PAGEID #: 5



Shortly thereafter, at approximately 2:20 p.m., members of the United States Mouse of
Representatives and United States Senate, including the President of the Senate, Vice President
Mike Pence, were instructed to—and did—evacuate the chambers. Accordingly, the joint session
of the United States Congress was effectively suspended until shortly after 8:00 p.m. Vice
President Pence remained in the United States Capitol from the time he was evacuated from the
Senate Chamber until the sessions resumed.

During national news coverage of the aforementioned events, video footage which
appeared to be captured on mobile devices of persons present on the scene depicted evidence of
violations of local and federal law, including scores of individuals inside the U.S. Capitol building
without authority to be there.

Identification of JOSHUA SCOTT PARMENTER

Immediately following the events of January 6, 2021, the FBI and other law enforcement
agencies began investigating the crimes committed on January 6. As part of this investigation, the
FBI received search warrant returns from Google that indicated Google e-mail address

joshparm****@gmail.com, under name "Tetsuo Takahashi The 5th Pillar Man" and associated
with phone number ending in 7204 and recovery email Joshua****@ymail.com', was located
inside the U.S. Capitol building, a restricted area, between the hours of 2:00 p.m. and 6:30 p.m.
Eastern Standard Time (EST) on January 6, 2021. The account information for
Joshparm»»**@gmail.com indicated the user as JOSHUA SCOTT PARMENTER
(PARMENTER). Further analysis of the the account as well as law enforcement database checks
revealed that PARMENTER resided in or around Lancaster, Ohio.

On or about May 19, 2021, the FBI interviewed PARMENTER. During the interview,

PARMENTER confirmed that he used e-mail accounts Joshparm****@gmail.com and
Joshua****@ymail.com and telephone number ending in 7204. PARMENTER advised that he
traveled alone from Lancaster, Ohio to Washington, D.C. on January 6,2021 to show his support
for President Donald J. Trump and to protest against the election. PARMENTER arrived too late
to hear Trump, but did witness Alex Jones speak. Eventually PARMENTER moved with the crowd

to the U.S. Capitol after Jones finished speaking. See Figure 1. PARMENTER has reddish hair

with a beard and is seen wearing a wearing a black hooded sweatshirt, dark Jeans, and black and
white sneakers. During the FBI's interview, PARMENTER estimated he stood within five feet of

the Capitol Building's doorway and could easily see inside. However he repeatedly denied actually
entering the building. At the time of the interview, no known video of PARMENTER existed as

evidence.

PARMENTER's phone number and email addresses are known to the affiant.

2
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Figure 2: Slill from YouTuhe Video
ofPARMENTER

Figure 3: Slill From Open Source Video
ofPARMENTER

PARMENTER Enters the U.S. Capitol Building

On or about February 17, 2022, while searching CCTV footage, FBI personnel ideniiried

an individual entering the Capitol Building and remaining inside for approximately three minutes.

At approximately 3:06 p.m. on January 6. 2021. PARMENTER. entered the U.S. Capitol building

through the Senate Wing Doors. The original interviewing agents confinned PARMENTER as the
individual highlighted by a yellow circle in the Figures below.
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Figure 3: FARjVIENTER inside ihe U.S. Capitol

FBI was able lo locale open source video from hUps://archivc.org depicting
PARMF.NTER in the U.S. Capitol Senate Wing. See Figure 6.
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Figure 7: PAIiMENTKR deparling (he U.S. Capitol

Case: 2:23-mj-00641-EPD Doc #: 1 Filed: 11/15/23 Page: 9 of 11  PAGEID #: 9



WiKlnnvtly, J.inu.ify 00 ?0;» J 3 00 3a f'W

%

Figure 8: PARMENTER exiting (he U.S. Capitol through the Senate fVing Doors

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, your affiant submits that there is probable cause to believe that
PARMENTIER violated 18 U.S.C. §§ 1752(a)( 1) and (2), which makes it a crime to (1) knowingly
enter or remain in any restricted building or grounds without lawful authority to do; and (2)
knowingly, and with intent to impede or disrupt the orderly conduct of Government business or
official functions, engage in disorderly or disruptive conduct in, or within such proximity to, any
restricted building or grounds when, or so that, such conduct, in fact, impedes or disrupts the
orderly conduct of Government business or official functions; or attempts or conspires to do so.
For purposes of Section 1752 of Title 18. a "restricted building" includes a posted, cordoned off,
or otherwise restricted area of a building or grounds where the President or other person protected
by the Secret Service, including the Vice President, is or will be temporarily visiting; or any
building or grounds so restricted in conjunction with an event designated as a special event of
national significance.

Your affiant submits there is also probable cause to believe that PARMFNTF.R violated
40 U.S.C. §§ 5i04(c)(2)(D) and (G), which makes it a crime to willfully and knowingly (D) utter
loud, threatening, or abusive language, or engage in disorderly or disruptive conduct, at any place
in the Grounds or in any of the Capitol Buildings with the intent to impede, disrupt, or disturb the
orderly conduct of a session of Congress or either Mouse of Congress, or the orderly conduct in
that building of a hearing before, or any deliberations of, a committee of Congress or cither i louse
of Congress; (G) parade, demonstrate, or picket in any of the Capitol Buildings.
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Andrew C. Cramlet

Special Agent
Federal Bureau of Investigation

Attested to by the applicant in accordance with the requirements of Fed. R. Crim. P. 4.1

by telephone, this 13th day of November 2023.
.  . 2023.11.13

11:13:15-05 W

HON. ROBIN M. MERIWEATHER

U.S. MAGISTRATE JUDGE
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